
MINUTES OF THE TRUSTEES MEETING OF THE CINCINNATI SOUTHERN 
RAILWAY TRUST

February 11, 2025

A regular meeting of the Board of Trustees of the Cincinnati Southern Railway Trust (the
“Board”) was held on Tuesday, February 11, 2025, at 3:00 p.m. at the Cincinnati Parks
Administration Office at 950 Eden Park Drive, Cincinnati Ohio. Paul Muething, Mark
Mallory, Liz Keating and Paul Sylvester were present in person. Ashley Pannell, City of
Cincinnati Law Department Supervising Attorney – General Counsel Complex Contracts;
Holly Schnapf, Financial and Administrative Director of Cincinnati Southern Railway;
Allen Zaring, Eric Gioia and Tim Bayer, representatives from UBS Financial Services, Inc.
(“UBS”); and Christine Noone, representative from the City of Cincinnati’s Finance
Department were also present. Additionally, Devan Peters and Chintan Desai,
representatives from Vanguard, presented in person. Laurie Donato from nez&pez
presented virtually.

PUBLIC COMMENT

West Price Hill resident, Todd Zinser voiced his concern regarding the City’s use

of CSRT funds, noting that based on his review, the city was not spending money on

projects in a timely manner. He suggested that the Board consider this when deciding the

amount and timing of distributions to the city to ensure that the money does not sit dormant

in an account at the City when it could be earning interest if left in the trust fund. He asked

that the board determine methods to regularly monitor fund usage.

OATH OF OFFICE OF NEW TRUSTEE

CSRT Board of Trustees President Paul Muething swore in Elizabeth Keating as a

new member of the CSRT Board of Trustees. Ms. Keating completed the oath of office and

was welcomed to the Board. 

MISCELLANEOUS ADMINISTRATION

Mr. Mallory moved to approve the minutes from the November 17, 2024 Regular

Meeting of the CSRT Board, and Mr. Sylvester seconded. The motion passed unanimously.

UBS PRESENTATION OF THE TRUST FUND PERFORMANCE



Mr. Goia reported that UBS remains pleased with the Fund’s performance even

during these volatile times. The portfolio is up 2% this year and totals $1,699,785,574. This

is ahead of projections. 

He then shared the macroeconomic outlook. Inflation rates are higher than Federal

Reserve targets. This paired with strong job growth is causing the Federal Reserve to pause

interest rate decreases. New projections predict an interest rate cut of 50 basis points this

year (about half of the cut UBS predicted at the end of 2024). Rates for a 10-year bond will

still likely be 4% by year end. UBS predicts approximately 9% growth in the S&P 500

Index by the end of the year. Markets have grown more volatile, but UBS believes the

market will be resilient. Regarding fixed income, there has been a considerable amount of

rate volatility, and this is increasing. UBS believes a continued focus on intermediate bonds

will be beneficial to CSRT. They feel optimistic about 2025 and added that although the

market will likely be volatile, the portfolio was built to withstand it. 

Vanguard Portfolio Manager Report: Devan Peters presented an overview of

Vanguard’s history and vision. Vanguard is one of the largest asset managers globally and

considers working with foundations and entities like CSRT as a core competency of the

company. Vanguard funds have outperformed 88% of their peer group in returns over the

last 10 years. Chintan Desai noted that Vanguard is an investor-owned company. There are

no other shareholders, so client success is the key priority. Mr. Desai also talked about

broader themes Vanguard is seeing, which mirrored Mr. Goya’s analysis. Mr. Desai

reiterated the value of having a diversified portfolio and keeping investment costs low. 

Mr. Muething asked if Vanguard was satisfied with how the CSRT assets they

manage were performing and how these investments compare to the benchmarks. Mr.



Desai explained that they are very pleased with their performance, which has met

benchmarks. 

CSR Portfolio – Exposure Performance and Income Project: Mr. Bayer noted that

as of Mid-December UBS concluded the phase-in process for the portfolio. They feel good

about the speed and strategy of the process. He noted that yields from bond interest and

equity dividends will almost completely cover the upcoming $56MM allocation to the City,

keeping the general principal of the portfolio intact. Since the inception of the portfolio

(just under a year), the total portfolio has grown by 6.87% without taking on significant

risk. The additional funds above the 5.5% growth goal will provide a buffer for potentially

more challenging investment years in the future. UBS will continue to monitor

performance with rigor. 

Mr. Zaring noted that UBS intends to re-evaluate investment strategy annually to

ensure it is optimized. Based on the current economic uncertainty, Mr. Zaring suggested

small modifications to the strategic asset allocation. He proposed reducing the investment

in international, developed equity markets by 1.3% as well as decreasing emerging markets

by 2.02%. Additionally, he recommended decreasing high yield bonds by approximately

2%.

Mr. Mallory thanked UBS for their presentation and noted that, given the rapidly 

changing economic environment, UBS is encouraged to communicate with the Board 

between quarterly meetings if timely adjustments to the investment strategy are needed. 

Mr. Muething added that if there is an urgent need to act, UBS should contact Mr. 

Muething or Mr. Sylvester, as noted in the policy statement. They would then go to the 

rest of the board to make sure they have the concurrence to act. This can be accomplished

through scheduling a special meeting of the Board.



Mr. Sylvester motioned to accept UBS’s recommendation for rebalancing the

portfolio. Mr. Mallory seconded. The motion was unanimously approved.

WEBSITE AND BRANDING PRESENTATION

Laurie Donato explained that nez&pez focused its branding efforts on portraying

CSRT as approachable, forward thinking, transparent, accessible, and modern. She showed

the Board the prospective logo, color palate, website progress, look, tone, and feel. She

noted that all decisions were made taking ADA accessibility into consideration. 

Mr. Mallory remarked that their work felt fresh, alive, and engaging and that it is

the right direction for CSRT. Mr. Sylvester agreed that it looked great and that he liked the

logo. Ms. Donato noted that more feedback will be needed from the Board as content is

added, but that the project is on track, and that it should be completed by the end of March.

Mr. Muething added that he hopes the website will include information regarding how the

City intends to spend the money and that it will also note progress toward those goals. Mr.

Sylvester added that it would be beneficial to include what is happening by neighborhood

as well as what has happened over time. Ms. Schnapf noted that the website will also

provide an avenue for Cincinnati residents to contact the city with their suggestions for

projects that should be considered. Ms. Keating suggested utilizing CAGIS at some point,

so that people can zoom in on their neighborhood and see the projects going on there. She

noted that this is a City decision, but that it could be a beneficial addition to the CSRT site

down the road. Mr. Muething added that we should also note how CSRT is impacting

Cincinnati through our investments, as some of our funds are being invested back into local

projects, as part of the portfolio. Mr. Mallory noted that these are not direct investments

made by the City, but projects made possible because of how we invested the trust fund.



Therefore, we may need to have a section about indirect investments. Ms. Keating asked if

the FAQ would include information about legal requirements regarding how the CSRT

distribution to the City can be spent and the difference between what the Board is in charge

of and what City Council is in charge of. Ms. Schnapf assured her that this is part of the

FAQ, and Ms. Donato added that this information will appear in many areas of the site.

TREASURERS REPORT

Mr. Sylvester noted that the City has agreed that at the end of each year, CSRT will

submit unaudited annual financial information to the City and then will participate in the

City’s audit as a blended component. They have waived the need for an additional

independent CSRT audit at the end of the calendar year. UBS will also provide CSRT’s

financial information to the city as of June 30. 

Mr. Sylvester presented invoices for approval: US Digital Partners for web hosting

($1800) and maintenance ($231.25), Clark Schaefer Hackett for audit support ($859) and

the City of Cincinnati Legal Department for legal services from June-Dec. of 2024

(8,107.93). Ms. Keating asked if US Digital will still be hosting when we move to the new

website. Ms. Schnapf said that CSRT is looking into a more universal and economical

hosting platform. Mr. Muething asked about paying US Digital for the year when we will

likely only be utilizing their services for a portion of that time. Ms. Schnapf said she would

investigate getting a partial refund once the new site is live. Mr. Mallory moved to approve

payment of the invoices. Ms. Keating seconded. Unanimously approved.

FREQUENCY OF CITY UPDATES REGARDING USE OF FUNDS

Mr. Mallory noted that he wants reports for both how the City plans to spend the 

CSRT distribution funds and also what they actually spend it on. Mr. Muething added that

he spoke to Assistant City Manager Billy Weber who confirmed that the City will report 



in May or June how they intend to spend the money for the upcoming year, and then they 

will confirm how they have spent the money from the previous year in the September 

meeting. Ms. Keating suggested that an update be provided each quarter regarding which 

projects have been started since the last meeting. Ms. Noone remarked that the City could

likely accommodate this request.

MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS

Mr. Mallory officially welcomed Ms. Keating to the Board and stressed that she is

a valuable addition. He noted that she did a fantastic job as a Cincinnati City

Councilperson, and he is honored to serve with her on the CSRT Board. Ms. Keating

offered her thanks and noted that it was an honor to be a part of the Board. She thanked the

Board for their work getting the CSRT to where it is today.

ADJOURNMENT

Mr. Mallory made a motion to adjourn. Ms. Keating seconded. The motion passed

unanimously. 

_____________________________________                      ___________________
Paul Muething, President Date

5/22/25
_____________________________________                      ___________________
Holly Schnapf, Financial & Admin. Director Date



MINUTES OF THE TRUSTEES MEETING OF THE CINCINNATI SOUTHERN 
RAILWAY TRUST 

 
May 20, 2025 

 
A regular meeting of the Board of Trustees of the Cincinnati Southern Railway Trust (the 
“Board”) was held on Tuesday, May 20, 2025, at 3:00 p.m. at the Cincinnati Parks 
Administration Office at 950 Eden Park Drive, Cincinnati Ohio. Paul Muething, Mark 
Mallory, Liz Keating and Paul Sylvester were present in person. Ashley Pannell, City of 
Cincinnati Law Department Supervising Attorney – General Counsel Complex Contracts; 
Holly Schnapf, Financial and Administrative Director of Cincinnati Southern Railway 
Trust; Allen Zaring, Eric Gioia and Tim Bayer, representatives from UBS Financial 
Services, Inc. (“UBS”); City of Cincinnati Finance Director Steve Webb, and Christine 
Noone, representative from the City of Cincinnati’s Finance Department were also present. 
Additionally, Joe Caticchio and Ben Goldberg, representatives from State Street Global 
Advisors, presented. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
Cincinnati resident Todd Zinser requested that CSRT meetings be broadcast, so that citizens 
can remain informed. Mr. Muething remarked that he was open to this request. Ms. Pannell 
offered to connect Ms. Schnapf with representatives from City Cable to discuss options for 
virtual viewing of meetings. 
 

MISCELLANEOUS ADMINISTRATION 
Mr. Sylvester moved to approve the minutes from the February 11, 2025 Regular 

Meeting of the CSRT Board, and Mr. Mallory seconded. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
UBS PRESENTATION OF THE TRUST FUND PERFORMANCE 

Mr. Goia reported that UBS remains pleased with the fund’s performance even during 
these volatile times. The portfolio is up 3.5% YTD and 7.53% over the last year and 
totals $1,719,281,833.89. He reminded the trustees that portfolios are built to achieve 
stability through choppy waters. However, it is inevitable that macroeconomics will have 
an impact and drive returns. Tariffs have been a significant concern but markets have 
reacted positively to recent updates (trade agreements and decreased tariffs vs. original 
projections). S&P profits have outperformed expectations. Forward-looking returns after 
periods of volatility have been quite positive historically. This leads UBS to be optimistic.  
 
Fixed income markets (bonds) reacted to tariff announcements with immense negative 
volatility. Negative bond markets and corresponding economic downturns tends to be a 
constraint on public policy. Government leaders have taken this into account, and it 
appears to be leading to the better trade deals that Washington is hoping for. UBS 
believes that there will not be a full-blown recession.  
 
Tim Bayer introduced Joe Caticchio and Ben Goldberg – vice presidents at State Street 
Trust.  State Street manages the equity portion of the CSRT portfolio. Mr. Caticchio 
presented an overview of the company, noting that it was founded in 1978 but is part of 
State Street Bank (230+ years old). State Street is the creator of the world’s first EFT and 



they are pioneers in indexing. They are responsible for managing about 11.5% of the 
world’s assets.  
 
Mr. Goldberg noted the CSRT portfolio is performing as expected in the current climate. 
He continued that CSRT’s State Street portfolio is invested in US equities, which he 
believes is the best path. He noted that the way they manage performance is ensuring that 
their equity index funds track within tolerance, based on cumulative quarterly gross-of-
fees returns for all Systematic Equity Index managed pooled, and separate account for 
both 3- and 5-year periods ending March 31, 2025. Tracking difference is based on the 
difference between portfolio and benchmark cumulative returns. 100% meet this test. 
Additionally, he noted that the volume of their trades ($834B) allows them to keep costs 
down, charging 11% lower trade commissions than peers.  
 
Mr. Sylvester asked if State Street involves AI in their processes for efficiency. Mr. 
Goldberg said they are just rolling out AI and looking at how it can be beneficial to the 
business.  
 
Performance: Mr. Bayer noted that it has been an eventful quarter, but they are very pleased 
with the CSRT portfolio’s current results ($1,719,281,833.89). The portfolio stands at the 
equity to fixed income target (50.12% of the portfolio in publicly traded equities, remainder 
in fixed income and cash). There continues to be robust cash flow coming into the portfolio 
from equity dividends and bond coupons. Diverse equities are buffering against volatility,  
and the credit quality remains robust. Annualized return is 6.7%. UBS remains pleased 
with all investment managers and their performance, and they were notably pleased with 
the active fixed income performance over the last quarter. 
 
Mr. Zaring reported that on April 30, Community Capital Management (CCM) made UBS 
aware that they had experienced a cyber security breech. CSRT’s name, address and EIN 
were exposed (this is already public information). The perpetrator was identified as part of 
a ransom hub network (an international cyber criminal affiliation which attempts to break 
into organizational networks, encrypt data and then send ransom notes requesting payment 
in order to regain access to the data). They were not successful in infiltrating CCM’s data. 
CCM has taken steps to increase their security. There is no evidence of continued 
unauthorized access. CCM’s client investment accounts were never at risk. UBS serves as 
soul custodian for CSRT’s accounts, taking verified trading recommendations from asset 
managers, but CSRT’s assets never leave UBS.  
 
Ms. Keating asked for confirmation that the Trustees’ personal log-in information to the 
UBS account is not passed on to the asset managers. Mr. Zaring confirmed that the personal 
information is not shared externally. 
 
Mr. Goia noted that cyber scams are becoming more and more rampant in the world and 
urged community members to be extremely careful, particularly when moving money. Mr. 
Sylvester added the importance of backing up information. 
 
Income Projection: Mr. Zaring reported that the income generated to date is $52 million 
and an additional $7.7 million is expected by June 30. Therefore, regardless of the markets, 



the Trust has more than enough income to fulfill the promised quarterly disbursements of 
$14MM to the City starting July. 
Mr. Muething remarked that in September CSRT will need to inform the City of the 
allocation for FY27, so forward-looking income projections will be needed. Mr. Zaring 
confirmed this will be available. Mr. Sylvester added that this income exceeds our target 
of 3.5% earnings (with cushion) on the Trust and that the forward view looks like this will 
be maintained. Ms. Keating asked if the equal distributions to the City make sense based 
on the City’s use of funds or if there are periods where more fund should be held in the 
Trust, continuing to grow. UBS said they defer to the trustees regarding the dates and 
amounts of disbursements. Mr. Muething added that the trustees agreed to this quarterly 
payment pattern when they verified to the City that $56MM would be allocated.  
 
Ms. Keating asked the State Street representatives if they agreed with UBS’ 
macroeconomic outlook. Mr. Goldberg said they did agree. They are not expecting a full-
blown recession.  

TREASURERS REPORT 
Mr. Sylvester reported that after review with a tax consultant, CSRT filed the final tax 
return to the State of Kentucky in April 2025 showing no tax due. It is marked as the final 
return because of the sale of the railroad to Norfolk Southern in 2024. In previous years 
Norfolk Southern was preparing this tax return on behalf of the City of Cincinnati.  
 
Mr. Muething commented that after a thorough search for skilled tax consultation, CSRT 
connected with Mark Sommer from Frost Brown Todd’s Louisville office. Mr. Sommer is 
extremely knowledgeable of KY tax law and put together the filing. CSRT 
representatives challenged him, but he was confident that the argument that no taxes are 
due is sound.  Mr. Mallory made a motion to approve tax consultation fees from Frost 
Brown Todd up to $100,000. Ms. Keating seconded the motion. Unanimously approved. 
 
Mr. Sylvester presented invoices for approval: Frost Brown Todd ($61,740.10). Mr. 
Muething made a motion to approve, Ms. Keating seconded, and the motion was 
unanimously approved. Mr. Muething commented that although $100,000 was authorized 
for tax consultation, no further fees beyond the current invoice are anticipated in the near 
future.  
 
Mr. Sylvester presented a US Digital Partners invoice for web maintenance ($370). Ms. 
Keating asked if we figured out if we could recoup a portion of the funds spent for 2025 
web hosting if we no longer use the site. Ms. Schnapf noted that it is still unclear whether 
we will be able to shut down the current site and said that when we are certain we can shut 
down the current site, she will look into the potential of reimbursement for the remaining 
months. Mr. Sylvester added that the original invoice required us to pay for the full year 
up front. Ms. Schnapf clarified that the current invoice was for changes to the site and noted 
that when the new site is launched, changes will be made in-house and these fees will stop. 
Mr. Mallory motioned to approve the US Digital invoice, Ms. Keating seconded, and the 
motion passed unanimously. 
 

NEW CITY OF CINCINNATI FINANCE DIRECTOR 



 




















	MINUTES OF THE TRUSTEES MEETING OF THE CINCINNATI SOUTHERN RAILWAY TRUST
	MINUTES OF THE TRUSTEES MEETING OF THE CINCINNATI SOUTHERN RAILWAY TRUST

